

PRINTING CODE. Deletions appear in ~~this style type~~. Insertions appear in this style type. Typeface changes are shown in ~~this~~ ~~style~~ ~~type~~ or in this style type.

SENATE BILL No. 180

Proposed Changes to introduced printing by AM018005

DIGEST OF PROPOSED AMENDMENT

Respiratory therapy. Adds language that amends the licensure and temporary permit requirements for respiratory care practitioners.

A BILL FOR AN ACT to amend the Indiana Code concerning health.

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:

- 1 SECTION 1. IC 12-8-1.6-2, AS ADDED BY P.L.174-2025,
2 SECTION 14, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
3 JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 2. (a) As used in this chapter, "home and
4 community based services waiver" refers to a federal Medicaid waiver
5 granted to the state under 42 U.S.C. 1396n(c) to provide home and
6 community based long term care services and supports to individuals
7 with disabilities **and the elderly**.
8 (b) The term does not include home and community services
9 offered as part of the approved Medicaid state plan.
10 SECTION 2. IC 12-8-1.6-4, AS ADDED BY P.L.174-2025,
11 SECTION 14, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
12 JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 4. (a) The office of the secretary has all powers
13 necessary and convenient to administer a home and community based
14 services waiver.
15 (b) The office of the secretary shall do the following:
16 (1) Administer money appropriated or allocated to the office of
17 the secretary by the state, including money appropriated or
18 allocated for a home and community based services waiver.
19 (2) Take any action necessary to implement a home and
20 community based services waiver, including applying to the
21 United States Department of Health and Human Services for

2026

IN 180—LS 6885/DI 147



DOCUMENT HAS NOT BEEN CHECKED FOR ACCURACY

M
a
r
k
u
p

approval to amend or renew the waiver, implement a new Medicaid waiver, or amend the Medicaid state plan.

(3) Ensure that a home and community based services waiver is subject to funding available to the office of the secretary.

(4) Ensure, in coordination with the budget agency, that the cost of a home and community based services waiver does not exceed the total amount of funding available by the budget agency, including state and federal funds, for the Medicaid programs established to provide services under a home and community based services waiver.

(5) Establish and administer a program for a home and community based services waiver, **including the assisted living waiver described in IC 12-15-1.3-26**, to provide an eligible individual with care that does not cost more than services provided to a similarly situated individual residing in an institution.

(6) Within the limits of available resources, provide service coordination services to individuals receiving services under a home and community based services waiver, including the development of an individual service plan that:

(A) addresses an individual's needs;

(B) identifies and considers family and community resources that are potentially available to meet the individual's needs; and

(C) is consistent with the person centered care approach for receiving services under a waiver.

(7) Monitor services provided by a provider that:

(A) provides services to an individual using funds provided by the office of the secretary or under the authority of the office of the secretary; or

(B) entered into one (1) or more provider agreements to provide services under a home and community based services waiver.

(8) Establish and administer a confidential complaint process for:

(A) an individual receiving; or

(B) a provider described in subdivision (7) providing;

services under a home and community based services waiver.

(c) The office of the secretary may do the following:

(1) At the office's discretion, delegate any of its authority under this chapter to any division or office within the office of the secretary.

M
a
r
k
u
p



(2) Issue administrative orders under IC 4-21.5-3-6 regarding the provision of a home and community based services waiver.

SECTION 3. IC 12-8-1.6-9, AS ADDED BY P.L.174-2025, SECTION 14, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 9. A home and community based services waiver, including the delivery and receipt of services provided under the home and community based services waiver, must meet the following requirements:

- (1) Be provided under public supervision.
- (2) Be individualized and designed to meet the needs of individuals eligible to receive services under the home and community based services waiver.
- (3) Meet applicable state and federal standards.
- (4) Be provided by qualified personnel.
- (5) Be provided, to the extent appropriate, with services provided under the home and community based services waiver that are provided in a home and community based setting where nonwaiver individuals receive services.
- (6) Be provided in accordance with an individual's:

(A) service plan; and

(B) choice of provider of waiver services.

SECTION 4. IC 12-8-1.6-10, AS AMENDED BY THE TECHNICAL CORRECTIONS BILL OF THE 2026 GENERAL ASSEMBLY, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 10. (a) This section applies to **the following**:

(1) A home and community based services waiver that included assisted living services as an available service before July 1, 2025.

(2) **An assisted living waiver described in IC 12-15-1.3-26.**

(b) As used in this section, "office" includes the following:

- (1) The office of the secretary of family and social services.
- (2) A managed care organization that has contracted with the office of Medicaid policy and planning under IC 12-15.
- (3) A person that has contracted with a managed care organization described in subdivision (2).

(c) Under a home and community based services waiver that provides services to an individual who is aged or disabled, the office shall reimburse for the following services provided to the individual by a provider of assisted living services, if included in the individual's home and community based ~~service~~ **services** plan:

- (1) Assisted living services.
- (2) Integrated health care coordination.



1 (3) Transportation.

2 (d) If the office approves an increase in the level of services for a
3 recipient of assisted living services, the office shall reimburse the
4 provider of assisted living services for the level of services for the
5 increase as of the date that the provider has documentation of providing
6 the increase in the level of services.

7 (e) The office may reimburse for any home and community based
8 services provided to a Medicaid recipient beginning on the date of the
9 individual's Medicaid application.

10 (f) The office may not do any of the following concerning assisted
11 living services provided in a home and community based services
12 program:

13 (1) Require the installation of a sink in the kitchenette within any
14 living unit of an entity that participated in the Medicaid home
15 and community based services program before July 1, 2018.

16 (2) Require all living units within a setting that provides assisted
17 living services to comply with physical plant requirements that
18 are applicable to individual units occupied by a Medicaid
19 recipient.

20 (3) Require a provider to offer only private rooms.

21 (4) Require a housing with services establishment provider to
22 provide housing when:

23 (A) the provider is unable to meet the health needs of a
24 resident without:

25 (i) undue financial or administrative burden; or

26 (ii) fundamentally altering the nature of the provider's
27 operations; and

28 (B) the resident is unable to arrange for services to meet the
29 resident's health needs.

30 (5) Require a housing with services establishment provider to
31 separate an agreement for housing from an agreement for
32 services.

33 (6) Prohibit a housing with services establishment provider from
34 offering studio apartments with only a single sink in the unit.

35 (7) Preclude the use of a shared bathroom between adjoining or
36 shared units if the participants consent to the use of a shared
37 bathroom.

38 (8) Reduce the scope of services that may be provided by a
39 provider of assisted living services under the aged and disabled
40 Medicaid waiver in effect on July 1, 2021.

41 (g) **A Medicaid recipient who has a home and community**
42 **based services plan that includes:**



1 (1) assisted living services; and
 2 (2) integrated health care coordination;
 3 shall choose whether the provider of assisted living services or the
 4 office provides the integrated health care coordination to the
 5 recipient.

6 (h) Integrated health care coordination provided by a provider
 7 of assisted living services under this section is not duplicative of
 8 any services provided by the office.

9 (g) (i) The office of the secretary may adopt rules under IC 4-22-2
 10 that establish the right, and an appeals process, for a resident to appeal
 11 a provider's determination that the provider is unable to meet the health
 12 needs of the resident as described in subsection (f)(4). The process:

13 (1) must require an objective third party to review the provider's
 14 determination in a timely manner; and

15 (2) may not be required if the provider is licensed by the Indiana
 16 department of health and the licensure requirements include an
 17 appellate procedure for such a determination.

18 SECTION 5. IC 12-15-1.3-26 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA
 19 CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS
 20 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 26. (a) Not later than September
 21 1, 2026, the office of the secretary shall apply to the United States
 22 Department of Health and Human Services for a Medicaid waiver
 23 to provide assisted living services effective July 1, 2026, in a waiver
 24 separate from the Medicaid home and community based services
 25 waiver that included assisted living services as an available service
 26 before July 1, 2026.

27 (b) The office of the secretary shall establish a work group of
 28 interested stakeholders to assist in the development and
 29 implementation of the waiver described in subsection (a). The
 30 governor shall appoint the members of the work group and include
 31 providers of assisted living services as members of the work group.

32 SECTION 6. IC 12-15-13-1.8, AS AMENDED BY P.L.213-2025,
 33 SECTION 112, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
 34 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 1.8. (a) As used in this section,
 35 "covered population" means all Medicaid recipients who meet the
 36 criteria set forth in subsection (b).

37 (b) Except as provided in subsection (e), an individual is a
 38 member of the covered population if the individual:

39 (1) is eligible to participate in the federal Medicare program (42
 40 U.S.C. 1395 et seq.) and receives nursing facility services; or

41 (2) is:

42 (A) at least sixty (60) years of age;



(B) blind, aged, or disabled; and

(C) receiving services through one (1) of the following:

(i) The aged and disabled Medicaid waiver.

(ii) A risk based managed care program for aged, blind, or disabled individuals who are not eligible to participate in the federal Medicare program.

(iii) The state Medicaid plan.

(c) The office of the secretary may implement a risk based managed care program for the covered population.

(d) Any managed care organization that participates in the risk based managed care program under subsection (c) that fails to pay a claim submitted by a nursing facility provider for payment under the program later than:

(1) twenty-one (21) days, if the claim was electronically filed; or

(2) thirty (30) days, if the claim was filed on paper;

from receipt by the managed care organization shall pay a penalty of five hundred dollars (\$500) per calendar day per claim.

(e) Upon an individual receiving nursing facility services for a consecutive period of one hundred (100) days, the individual is no longer a member of the covered population. An individual who was part of the covered population is no longer part of the covered population on the one hundredth day and shall receive Medicaid services under a fee for service program.

SECTION 7. IC 16-18-2-146.5 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 146.5. "Generative artificial intelligence", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-2.**

SECTION 8. IC 16-18-2-163, AS AMENDED BY P.L.179-2022(ss), SECTION 4, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 163. (a) Except as provided in subsection (c), "health care provider", for purposes of IC 16-21 and IC 16-41, means any of the following:**

(1) An individual, a partnership, a corporation, a professional corporation, a facility, or an institution licensed or legally authorized by this state to provide health care or professional services as a licensed physician, a psychiatric hospital, a hospital, a health facility, an emergency ambulance service (IC 16-31-3), a dentist, a registered or licensed practical nurse, a midwife, an optometrist, a pharmacist, a podiatrist, a chiropractor, a physical therapist, a respiratory care practitioner, an occupational therapist, a psychologist, a paramedic, an



emergency medical technician, an advanced emergency medical technician, an athletic trainer, or a person who is an officer, employee, or agent of the individual, partnership, corporation, professional corporation, facility, or institution acting in the course and scope of the person's employment.

(2) A college, university, or junior college that provides health care to a student, a faculty member, or an employee, and the governing board or a person who is an officer, employee, or agent of the college, university, or junior college acting in the course and scope of the person's employment.

(3) A blood bank, community mental health center, community intellectual disability center, community health center, or migrant health center.

(4) A home health agency (as defined in IC 16-27-1-2).

(5) A health maintenance organization (as defined in IC 27-13-1-19).

(6) A health care organization whose members, shareholders, or partners are health care providers under subdivision (1).

(7) A corporation, partnership, or professional corporation not otherwise qualified under this subsection that:

(A) provides health care as one (1) of the corporation's, partnership's, or professional corporation's functions;

(B) is organized or registered under state law; and

(C) is determined to be eligible for coverage as a health care provider under IC 34-18 for the corporation's, partnership's, or professional corporation's health care function.

Coverage for a health care provider qualified under this subdivision is limited to the health care provider's health care functions and does not extend to other causes of action.

(b) "Health care provider", for purposes of IC 16-35, has the meaning set forth in subsection (a). However, for purposes of IC 16-35, the term also includes a health facility (as defined in section 167 of this chapter).

(c) "Health care provider", for purposes of IC 16-32-5, IC 16-36-5, IC 16-36-6, and IC 16-41-10 means an individual licensed or authorized by this state to provide health care or professional services as:

(1) a licensed physician;

(2) a registered nurse;

(3) a licensed practical nurse;

(4) an advanced practice registered nurse;

(5) a certified nurse midwife;



- (6) a paramedic;
- (7) an emergency medical technician;
- (8) an advanced emergency medical technician;
- (9) an emergency medical responder, as defined by section 109.8 of this chapter;
- (10) a licensed dentist;
- (11) a home health aide, as defined by section 174 of this chapter; or
- (12) a licensed physician assistant.

The term includes an individual who is an employee or agent of a health care provider acting in the course and scope of the individual's employment.

(d) "Health care provider", for purposes of IC 16-36-7, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-36-7-12.

(e) "Health care provider", for purposes of IC 16-40-4, means any of the following:

- (1) An individual, a partnership, a corporation, a professional corporation, a facility, or an institution licensed or authorized by the state to provide health care or professional services as a licensed physician, a psychiatric hospital, a hospital, a health facility, an emergency ambulance service (IC 16-31-3), an ambulatory outpatient surgical center, a dentist, an optometrist, a pharmacist, a podiatrist, a chiropractor, a psychologist, or a person who is an officer, employee, or agent of the individual, partnership, corporation, professional corporation, facility, or institution acting in the course and scope of the person's employment.
- (2) A blood bank, laboratory, community mental health center, community intellectual disability center, community health center, or migrant health center.
- (3) A home health agency (as defined in IC 16-27-1-2).
- (4) A health maintenance organization (as defined in IC 27-13-1-19).
- (5) A health care organization whose members, shareholders, or partners are health care providers under subdivision (1).
- (6) A corporation, partnership, or professional corporation not otherwise specified in this subsection that:
 - (A) provides health care as one (1) of the corporation's, partnership's, or professional corporation's functions;
 - (B) is organized or registered under state law; and
 - (C) is determined to be eligible for coverage as a health care provider under IC 34-18 for the corporation's, partnership's,



M
a
r
k
u
p

or professional corporation's health care function.

(7) A person that is designated to maintain the records of a person described in subdivisions (1) through (6).

(f) "Health care provider", for purposes of IC 16-45-4, has the meaning set forth in 47 CFR 54.601(a).

(g) "Health care provider", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-3.

SECTION 9. IC 16-18-2-167.9 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A **NEW** SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 167.9. "Health plan", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-4.**

SECTION 10. IC 16-18-2-187.4 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A **NEW** SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 187.4. "Indiana user", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-5.**

SECTION 11. IC 16-18-2-188.4 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A **NEW** SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 188.4. "Individually identifiable health information", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-6.**

SECTION 12. IC 16-18-2-225.5 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A **NEW** SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 225.5. "Mental health chat bot", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-7.**

SECTION 13. IC 16-18-2-264 IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 264. (a) "Operator", for purposes of IC 16-41-31, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-41-31-4.

(b) "Operator", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-8.

SECTION 14. IC 16-18-2-362.2 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A **NEW** SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 362.2. "User input", for purposes of IC 16-51-3, has the meaning set forth in IC 16-51-3-9.**

SECTION 15. IC 16-27.5-5-5, AS ADDED BY P.L.143-2025, SECTION 24, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE SEPTEMBER 1, 2025 (RETROACTIVE)]: Sec. 5. (a) A home health aide competency evaluation program must:

(1) operate in accordance with 42 CFR 484.80; and

(2) address each topic described in section 4(a) of this chapter.

(b) Beginning July 1, 2026, a home health aide competency evaluation program must include at least seventy-five (75) hours of



training. At least sixteen (16) hours of classroom training must occur before supervised practical training.

SECTION 16. IC 16-41-14-17 IS REPEALED [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]. Sec. 17. (a) This section does not apply to a person who transfers for research purposes semen that contains antibodies for the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV):

(b) A person who, for the purpose of artificial insemination, recklessly, knowingly, or intentionally donates, sells, or transfers semen that contains antibodies for the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) commits transferring contaminated semen, a Level 5 felony. The offense is a Level 4 felony if the offense results in the transmission of the virus to another person.

SECTION 17. IC 16-51-3 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW CHAPTER TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]:

Chapter 3. Mental Health Chat Bots

Sec. 1. As used in this chapter, "artificial intelligence" has the meaning set forth in IC 4-13.1-5-1.

Sec. 2. As used in this chapter, "generative artificial intelligence" means an artificial intelligence technology system that:

- (1) is trained on data;
- (2) is designed to simulate human conversation with a consumer through:
 - (A) text;
 - (B) audio;
 - (C) visual communication; or
 - (D) any combination of communication described in clauses (A) through (C); and
- (3) generates, with limited or no human oversight, nonscripted output that is similar to output created by a human.

Sec. 3. As used in this chapter, "health care provider" has the meaning set forth in 45 CFR 160.103.

Sec. 4. As used in this chapter, "health plan" has the meaning set forth in 45 CFR 160.103.

Sec. 5. As used in this chapter, "Indiana user" means an individual located in Indiana at the time the individual accesses or uses a mental health chat bot.

Sec. 6. As used in this chapter, "individually identifiable health information" refers to information relating to the physical or mental health of an individual.



M
a
r
k
u
p

1 **Sec. 7. (a) As used in this chapter, "mental health chat bot"**
 2 **means an artificial intelligence application that:**

3 (1) uses generative artificial intelligence to engage in
 4 interactive conversations with a user of the application in a
 5 manner that is similar to the confidential communication
 6 that an individual would have with a mental health
 7 professional; and

8 (2) an operator represents or a reasonable person would
 9 believe is capable of:

10 (A) providing mental health services to a user; or

11 (B) helping a user manage or treat a mental health
 12 condition.

13 **(b) The term does not include artificial intelligence technology**
 14 **that only:**

15 (1) provides scripted output, such as a guided meditation or
 16 a mindfulness exercise; or

17 (2) analyzes a user's input to connect the user with a mental
 18 health professional.

19 **Sec. 8. As used in this chapter, "operator" refers to a person**
 20 **who operates a mental health chat bot.**

21 **Sec. 9. As used in this chapter, "user input" means content**
 22 **provided to a mental health chat bot by an Indiana user.**

23 **Sec. 10. (a) This section does not apply to individually**
 24 **identifiable health information that is:**

25 (1) requested by a health care provider with the consent of
 26 an Indiana user; or

27 (2) upon request by an Indiana user, provided to a health
 28 plan of the Indiana user.

29 **(b) Except as provided in section 11 of this chapter, an**
 30 **operator may not share with or sell to a third party the following:**

31 (1) Individually identifiable health information of an Indiana
 32 user.

33 (2) User input.

34 **Sec. 11. (a) If necessary to ensure the effective functionality of**
 35 **the mental health chat bot, an operator may share individually**
 36 **identifiable health information of an Indiana user with a person**
 37 **with whom the operator has contracted concerning the functioning**
 38 **of the mental health chat bot.**

39 **(b) In sharing the information described in subsection (a), an**
 40 **operator shall comply with 45 CFR Part 160 and 45 CFR Part 164,**
 41 **Subparts A and E applicable to a:**

42 (1) covered entity; and



(2) business associate;
as defined in 45 CFR 160.103.

Sec. 12. (a) An operator may not use a mental health chat bot to advertise a product or service to an Indiana user unless the operator clearly and conspicuously:

(1) identifies the product or service as an advertisement; and

(2) discloses to the Indiana user any:

(A) sponsorship by;

(B) business affiliation with; or

(C) agreement with;

a third party to promote, advertise, or recommend the product or service.

(b) An operator may not utilize user input to determine:

(1) whether to display an advertisement for a product or service other than the mental health chat bot to the Indiana user;

(2) a product, service, or category of product or service to advertise to the Indiana user; or

(3) customizations to how an advertisement is displayed to an Indiana user.

(c) This section does not prohibit a mental health chat bot from providing a recommendation for counseling, mental health services, or other assistance from a licensed professional to the Indiana user.

Sec. 13. (a) An operator shall clearly and conspicuously disclose in the mental health chat bot that the mental health chat bot is:

(1) artificial intelligence technology; and

(2) not a human.

(b) The disclosure described in subsection (a) must be provided:

(1) before an Indiana user accesses the mental health chat bot;

(2) if an Indiana user has not accessed the mental health chat bot in the preceding seven (7) days, at the beginning of any interaction between the mental health chat bot and the Indiana user; and

(3) when an Indiana user asks or otherwise prompts the mental health chat bot about whether artificial intelligence is being used.

Sec. 14. If an operator violates this chapter, the attorney general may bring an action to obtain any of the following against



the operator:

- (1) Injunctive relief.
- (2) A civil penalty of not more than two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500).
- (3) The attorney general's reasonable costs of:
 - (A) the investigation of the violation; and
 - (B) maintaining the action.
- (4) Other appropriate relief.

Sec. 15. If the attorney general has reasonable cause to believe that any person has violated this chapter, the attorney general may issue a civil investigative demand under IC 4-6-3-3.

SECTION 18. IC 25-1-23.5 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW CHAPTER TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]:

Chapter 23.5. Use of Artificial Intelligence Systems

Sec. 1. As used in this chapter, "artificial intelligence system" means a machine based system that, for explicit or implicit objectives, infers from the input it receives how to generate outputs, including:

- (1) predictions;
- (2) content;
- (3) recommendations; or
- (4) decisions;

that can influence physical or virtual environments. The term includes generative artificial intelligence.

Sec. 2. As used in this chapter, "generative artificial intelligence" means an automated computing system that, when prompted with human prompts, descriptions, or queries, can produce outputs that simulate human product content, including:

- (1) textual outputs, such as short answers, essays, poetry, or longer compositions or answers;
- (2) image outputs, such as fine art, photographs, conceptual art, diagrams, and other images;
- (3) multimedia outputs, such as audio or video in the form of compositions, songs, or short-form or long-form audio or video; and
- (4) other content that would otherwise be produced by human means.

Sec. 3. (a) As used in this chapter, except as provided in subsection (b), "licensed practitioner" means an individual who holds a license issued by a board described in IC 25-0.5-11.

(b) The term does not include a veterinarian licensed under



M
a
r
k
u
p

1 **IC 25-38.1.**

2 **Sec. 4. A person or entity may not use an artificial intelligence**
 3 **system to:**

4 **(1) impersonate; or**

5 **(2) act as a substitute for;**

6 **a licensed practitioner during any interaction that is required to be**
 7 **performed by the licensed practitioner.**

8 **Sec. 5. A licensed practitioner who violates this chapter is**
 9 **subject to disciplinary action under IC 25-1-9.**

10 SECTION 19. IC 25-13-1-4, AS AMENDED BY P.L.103-2011,
 11 SECTION 1, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
 12 JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 4. (a) Any person desiring to practice dental
 13 hygiene in Indiana must procure from the board a license to practice
 14 dental hygiene. To procure a license, the applicant must submit to the
 15 board proof of graduation from an institution ~~for educating dental~~
 16 ~~hygienists that is approved by the board~~ **described in section 6(2) of**
 17 **this chapter** and other credentials required by this chapter, together
 18 with an application on forms prescribed and furnished by the board.
 19 Each applicant must pay to the board an application fee set by the
 20 board under section 5 of this chapter at the time the application is made
 21 and must pass an examination administered by an entity approved by
 22 the board. The board may establish under section 5 of this chapter
 23 additional requirements as a prerequisite to taking an examination for
 24 any applicant who has failed the examination two (2) or more times.
 25 Application fees are not refundable.

26 (b) An applicant described under subsection (a) shall, at the
 27 request of the board, make an appearance before the board.

28 SECTION 20. IC 25-13-1-5 IS AMENDED TO READ AS
 29 FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 5. (a) The board shall
 30 enforce this chapter.

31 (b) The board may adopt rules consistent with this chapter and
 32 with IC 25-14-1 necessary for the proper enforcement of this chapter,
 33 the examination of dental hygienists, **the educational requirements**
 34 **described in section 6(2) of this chapter**, and ~~for the conduct of the~~
 35 ~~practice of dental hygiene.~~

36 (c) The board may utilize a dental hygienist education program's
 37 accreditation by the Commission on Dental Accreditation of the
 38 American Dental Association as evidence that the program has met all
 39 or part of the standards for dental hygienist education programs
 40 established by the board.

41 SECTION 21. IC 25-13-1-6, AS AMENDED BY P.L.264-2013,
 42 SECTION 2, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE



JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 6. An applicant:

(1) must not have been convicted of a crime that has a direct bearing on the applicant's ability to practice competently;

(2) must be a graduate of a:

(A) school for dental hygienists that:

~~(A)~~ (i) is accredited by the Commission on Dental Accreditation of the American Dental Association;

~~(B)~~ (ii) is recognized by the board; and

~~(C)~~ (iii) requires a formal course of training of not less than two (2) years of eight (8) months each; **or**

(B) dental college in a foreign country with a degree that is substantially similar to a doctorate of:

(i) dental surgery; or

(ii) dental medicine;

determined and approved by the board;

(3) must pass an examination administered by an entity approved by the board; **and**

(4) may not take the examination described in subdivision (3) more than three (3) times; **and**

(5) if the applicant is a graduate of a dental college described in subdivision (2), must submit the applicant's academic transcripts for review by the board.

SECTION 22. IC 25-13-1-10.7, AS ADDED BY P.L.35-2020, SECTION 4, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 10.7. (a) A dental hygienist or dental assistant (as defined in IC 25-14-1-1.5(4)) may administer nitrous oxide under the direct supervision of a licensed dentist if the dental hygienist or dental assistant has:

(1) **either:**

(A) been employed in a dental practice for at least one (1) year; or

(B) ~~has~~ graduated from a program:

(i) accredited by the Commission on Dental Accreditation of the American Dental Association; **or**

(ii) approved by the board;

(2) satisfactorily completed a three (3) hour didactic nitrous oxide administration course **that:**

(A) ~~containing~~ **contains** curriculum on pharmacology, biochemistry, anatomy of nitrous oxide administration, emergency procedures, and the mechanics of operating a nitrous unit; **and**

(B) **is** accredited by the Commission on Dental

2026

IN 180—LS 6885/DI 147



DOCUMENT HAS NOT BEEN CHECKED FOR ACCURACY

M
a
r
k
u
p

1 Accreditation of the American Dental Association or
2 **approved by the board;** and

3 (3) demonstrated clinical competency on at least five (5) patients
4 under the direct supervision of a licensed Indiana dentist whose
5 license is in good standing.

6 (b) The licensed Indiana dentist supervising the clinical
7 competency under subsection (a)(3) shall provide to the dental
8 hygienist or dental assistant a signed affidavit certifying the
9 competency.

10 (c) Upon receipt of the affidavit provided to a dental hygienist or
11 dental assistant under subsection (b), the provider of an educational
12 program or curriculum described in subsection (a)(2) shall issue a
13 certificate of completion to the dental hygienist or dental assistant. The
14 certificate of completion must be publicly displayed in the dental office
15 of the dental hygienist or dental assistant.

16 (d) Before permitting a dental hygienist or dental assistant to
17 administer nitrous oxide, the supervising dentist shall:

18 (1) verify that the dental hygienist or dental assistant has
19 completed the requirements of subsection (a);

20 (2) determine the maximum percent-dosage of nitrous oxide to
21 be administered to the patient; and

22 (3) ensure that any administration or monitoring of nitrous oxide
23 by dental hygienists or dental assistants is done in accordance
24 with relevant guidelines and standards developed by the
25 American Dental Association or the American Academy of
26 Pediatric Dentistry.

27 SECTION 23. IC 25-14-1-3, AS AMENDED BY P.L.264-2013,
28 SECTION 6, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
29 JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 3. (a) A person desiring to begin the practice of
30 dentistry in Indiana shall procure from the board a license to practice
31 dentistry in Indiana. Except as provided in section 4.5 of this chapter,
32 to procure the license, the applicant must submit to the board proof of
33 graduation from a dental college recognized by the board. The board
34 may recognize dental schools accredited by the Commission on Dental
35 Accreditation of the American Dental Association, if the board is
36 satisfied that the recognition is consistent with the board's
37 requirements. Every applicant must pass an examination administered
38 by an entity approved by the board and, **except as provided in**
39 **subsection (b)**, may not take the examination more than three (3)
40 times.

41 (b) The board may establish additional requirements for an
42 applicant who has failed the examination at least three (3) times.



M
a
r
k
u
p

The applicant must complete the additional requirements before the applicant may take the examination again.

~~(b)~~ (c) A fee paid under this article may not be refunded.

SECTION 24. IC 25-34.5-2-8 IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 8. (a) Each applicant for licensure as a respiratory care practitioner must present satisfactory evidence that the applicant:

(1) does not have a conviction for:

(A) an act that would constitute a ground for disciplinary sanction under IC 25-1-9; or

(B) a crime that has a direct bearing on the practitioner's ability to practice competently;

(2) has not been the subject of a disciplinary action initiated by the licensing or certification agency of another state or jurisdiction on the grounds that the applicant was unable to practice as a respiratory care practitioner without endangering the public; and

(3) has either:

(A) before January 1, 2028, passed a respiratory care practitioner licensing or certification examination approved by the board; or

(B) after December 31, 2027, successfully completed both portions of the registered respiratory therapist examination, administered by the National Board for Respiratory Care or its successor organization.

(b) Each applicant for licensure as a respiratory care practitioner must submit proof to the committee of the applicant's:

(1) graduation from a school or program of respiratory care that meets standards set by the board;

(2) completion of a United States military training program in respiratory care; or

(3) completion of sufficient postsecondary education to be credentialed by a national respiratory care practitioner organization approved by the committee.

(c) At the time of making application, each applicant must pay a fee determined by the board after consideration of a recommendation of the committee.

SECTION 25. IC 25-34.5-2-9, AS AMENDED BY P.L.177-2015, SECTION 75, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 9. (a) Except as provided in section 11 of this chapter, the committee shall issue a license to each applicant who

~~(1)~~ successfully passes the examination provided in section 12



of this chapter; and

(2) meets the requirements of section 8 of this chapter.

(b) Subject to IC 25-1-2-6(e), a license issued under this section expires on the last day of the regular renewal cycle established under IC 25-1-5-4.

SECTION 26. IC 25-34.5-2-10.1, AS AMENDED BY P.L.149-2022, SECTION 12, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 10.1. (a) The committee shall issue a temporary permit to a person to practice respiratory care or to profess to be a respiratory care practitioner, not more than thirty (30) days after the application is filed and completed, if the person pays a fee and:

(1) has:

(A) a valid license or certificate to practice from another state; and

(B) applied for a license from the committee;

(2) is practicing in a state that does not license or certify respiratory care practitioners but is credentialed by a national respiratory care practitioner association approved by the committee, and the person has applied for a license from the committee; or

(3) has:

(A) been approved by the committee to take the next examination; and

(B) graduated from a school or program approved by the committee: **is qualified to take the examination by being a graduate of a school or program of respiratory care that meets standards set by the board.**

(b) A temporary permit expires the earlier of:

(1) the date the person holding the permit is issued a license under this article; or

(2) the date the committee disapproves the person's license application.

(c) The committee may renew a temporary permit if the person holding the permit was scheduled to take the ~~next~~ examination and:

(1) did not take the examination; and

(2) shows good cause for not taking the examination.

(d) A permit renewed under subsection (c) expires on the date the person holding the permit receives the results from the ~~next~~ examination given after the permit was issued.

SECTION 27. IC 25-34.5-2-12 IS REPEALED [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]. Sec. ~~12~~: (a) Examinations of applicants for licensure



under this article shall be held at least semiannually on dates set by the board.

(b) An examination under this section must include a written examination that tests the following:

(1) The applicant's knowledge of the basic and clinical sciences as they relate to the practice of respiratory care;

(2) Other subjects that the committee considers useful to test an applicant's fitness to practice respiratory care;

(c) An otherwise qualified applicant who fails an examination and is refused licensure may take another scheduled examination upon payment of an additional fee set by the board under rules adopted under section 7 of this chapter.

SECTION 28. IC 25-34.5-2-14, AS AMENDED BY P.L.152-2024, SECTION 8, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 14. (a) The committee shall issue a student permit to an individual if the individual does the following:

(1) Submits the appropriate application to the committee.

(2) Pays the fee established by the board.

(3) Submits written proof to the committee that the individual is a student in good standing in a respiratory care school or program that: ~~has been:~~

(A) **has been** approved by the committee for purposes of section 8(b)(1) of this chapter;

(B) ~~approved by the committee for purposes of section 10.1(a)(3)(B)~~ **is described in section 10.1(a)(3)** of this chapter; or

(C) **has been** otherwise approved by the committee.

(4) Submits satisfactory evidence that the individual:

(A) does not have a conviction described in section 8(a)(1) of this chapter; and

(B) has not been the subject of a disciplinary action described in section 8(a)(2) of this chapter.

(b) The committee shall issue a student permit as soon as it is reasonably practicable after an individual fulfills the requirements of subsection (a).

(c) An individual who holds a student permit may only perform respiratory care procedures that have been part of a course:

(1) the individual has successfully completed in the respiratory care program designated under subsection (a)(3); and

(2) for which the successful completion has been documented and that is available upon request to the committee.

(d) The committee may expand the list of respiratory care



procedures that an individual may perform under the individual's student permit to include additional respiratory care procedures that have been part of a course:

- (1) that the individual has successfully completed in the respiratory care program designated under subsection (a)(3); and
- (2) for which the individual's successful completion has been documented.

Upon request by the committee, the individual shall provide documentation of the successful completion of a course described in this subsection.

(e) The procedures permitted under subsections (c) and (d) may be performed only:

- (1) on patients who are not critical care patients; and
- (2) under the proximate supervision of a practitioner.

(f) A holder of a student permit shall meet in person at least one (1) time each working day with the permit holder's supervising practitioner or a designated respiratory care practitioner to review the permit holder's clinical activities. The supervising practitioner or a designated respiratory care practitioner shall review and countersign the entries that the permit holder makes in a patient's medical record not more than seven (7) calendar days after the permit holder makes the entries.

(g) A supervising practitioner may not supervise at one (1) time more than three (3) holders of student permits issued under this section.

(h) A student permit expires on the earliest of the following:

- (1) The date the permit holder is issued a license under this article.
- (2) The date the committee disapproves the permit holder's application for a license under this article.
- (3) The date the permit holder ceases to be a student in good standing in a respiratory care program approved by the committee. The graduation of a student permit holder from a respiratory care program approved by the committee does not cause the student permit to expire under this subdivision.
- (4) Sixty (60) days after the date that the permit holder graduates from a respiratory care program approved by the committee.
- (5) The date that the permit holder is notified that the permit holder has failed the licensure examination.
- (6) Two (2) years after the date of issuance.

SECTION 29.] IC 27-1-37-11, AS ADDED BY P.L.215-2025, SECTION 52, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 11. The department shall do the following:



(1) Require health carriers to meet network adequacy standards that are no less stringent than the network adequacy standards established by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.

(2) When assessing whether a health carrier has met the network adequacy standards, consider the availability and variety of independent specialty providers that provide services within in network provider facilities in the health carrier's network.

(3) Require a health carrier to provide proof that the health carrier meets the network adequacy standards on an annual basis.

(4) Contract with an objective third party to verify that health carriers are in compliance with the network adequacy standards.

SECTION ~~25~~ [30]. IC 27-1-37.1-5 IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 5. A person who enters into a health provider contract with a provider shall provide written notice to the provider of any amendment to the health provider contract not less than ~~forty-five (45)~~ **sixty (60)** days before the proposed effective date of the amendment.

SECTION ~~26~~ [31]. IC 27-1-37.1-5.5 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A **NEW** SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 5.5. Before an amendment to a health provider contract that makes a material change or reduces the reimbursement rate for any CPT code (as defined in IC 27-8-5.7-2.5) goes into effect, a person shall obtain either:**

- (1) the department's approval of the amendment; or**
- (2) the provider's approval of the amendment and the provider's signature.**

SECTION ~~27~~ [32]. IC 27-1-52.1 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A **NEW** CHAPTER TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]:

Chapter 52.1. Downcoding of Health Benefits Claims

Sec. 1. As used in this chapter, "covered individual" means an individual who is entitled to coverage under a health plan.

Sec. 2. As used in this chapter, "downcoding" means the adjustment of a health benefits claim by an insurer to a less complex or lower cost service to reimburse a provider in an amount less than the required amount under the provider contract. The term includes the use of remark codes.

Sec. 3. As used in this chapter, "health benefits claim" means a claim submitted by a provider for payment under a health plan for health care services provided to a covered individual.



1 **Sec. 4. As used in this chapter, "health plan" means the**
 2 **following:**

3 (1) A policy of accident and sickness insurance (as defined in
 4 IC 27-8-5-1), but not including the coverages described in
 5 IC 27-8-5-2.5(a).

6 (2) An individual contract (as defined in IC 27-13-1-21) or a
 7 group contract (as defined in IC 27-13-1-16) with a health
 8 maintenance organization (as defined in IC 27-13-1-19) that
 9 provides coverage for basic health care services (as defined
 10 in IC 27-13-1-4).

11 **Sec. 5. As used in this chapter, "insurer" means the following:**

12 (1) An insurer (as defined in IC 27-1-2-3(x)) that issues a
 13 policy of accident and sickness insurance (as defined in
 14 IC 27-8-5-1), but not including the coverages described in
 15 IC 27-8-5-2.5(a).

16 (2) A health maintenance organization (as defined in
 17 IC 27-13-1-19) that provides coverage for basic health care
 18 services (as defined in IC 27-13-1-4) under an individual
 19 contract (as defined in IC 27-13-1-21) or a group contract (as
 20 defined in IC 27-13-1-16).

21 **Sec. 6. As used in this chapter, "provider" means an individual**
 22 **or entity licensed or legally authorized to provide health care**
 23 **services.**

24 **Sec. 7. Notwithstanding any other law or regulation to the**
 25 **contrary, an insurer may not use downcoding in a manner that**
 26 **prevents a provider from:**

27 (1) submitting a health benefits claim for the actual service
 28 performed; and

29 (2) collecting reimbursement from the insurer for the actual
 30 service performed.

31 **Sec. 8. The department shall adopt rules under IC 4-22-2 to**
 32 **carry out this chapter.**

33 SECTION ~~28~~ [33]. IC 27-8-5-15.8, AS ADDED BY
 34 P.L.103-2020, SECTION 4, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS
 35 [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 15.8. (a) As used in this section,
 36 "treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse" means:

37 (1) treatment for a mental illness, as defined in
 38 IC 12-7-2-130(1); and

39 (2) treatment for drug abuse or alcohol abuse.

40 (b) As used in this section, "act" refers to the Paul Wellstone and
 41 Pete Domenici Mental Health Parity and Addiction Act of 2008 and
 42 any amendments thereto, plus any federal guidance or regulations



relevant to that act, including 45 CFR 146.136, 45 CFR 147.136, 45 CFR 147.160, and 45 CFR 156.115(a)(3).

(c) As used in this section, "nonquantitative treatment limitations" refers to those limitations described in 26 CFR 54.9812-1, 29 CFR 2590.712, and 45 CFR 146.136.

(d) An insurer that issues a policy of accident and sickness insurance that provides coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse shall submit a report to the department not later than December 31 of each year that contains the following information:

(1) A description of the processes:

(A) used to develop or select the medical necessity criteria for coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse; and

(B) used to develop or select the medical necessity criteria for coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions.

(2) Identification of all nonquantitative treatment limitations that are applied to:

(A) coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse; and

(B) coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions;

within each classification of benefits.

(3) The reimbursement rates for providers of mental illness or substance abuse services relative to Medicare rates and the reimbursement rates for providers of medical or surgical services relative to Medicare rates in the respective classification of benefits.

(e) There may be no separate nonquantitative treatment limitations that apply to coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse that do not apply to coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions within any classification of benefits.

(f) An insurer that issues a policy of accident and sickness insurance that provides coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse shall also submit an analysis showing the insurer's compliance with this section and the act to the department not later than December 31 of each year. The analysis must do the following:

(1) Identify the factors used to determine that a nonquantitative treatment limitation will apply to a benefit, including factors that



were considered but rejected.

(2) Identify and define the specific evidentiary standards used to define the factors and any other evidence relied upon in designing each nonquantitative treatment limitation.

(3) Provide the comparative analyses, including the results of the analyses, performed to determine the following:

(A) That the processes and strategies used to design each nonquantitative treatment limitation for coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse are comparable to, and applied no more stringently than, the processes and strategies used to design each nonquantitative treatment limitation for coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions.

(B) That the processes and strategies used to apply each nonquantitative treatment limitation for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse are comparable to, and applied no more stringently than, the processes and strategies used to apply each nonquantitative limitation for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions.

(g) This subsection applies to a policy of accident and sickness insurance that is issued, delivered, amended, or renewed after June 30, 2026. An insurer that issues a policy of accident and sickness insurance that provides coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse shall reimburse providers of mental illness or substance abuse services at rates that are at least as favorable relative to Medicare rates as reimbursement rates are for providers of medical or surgical services relative to Medicare rates in the respective classification of benefits.

~~(g)~~ **(h)** The department shall adopt rules to ensure compliance with this section and the applicable provisions of the act.

SECTION ~~29~~ [\[34\]](#). IC 27-8-5.7-0.5 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 0.5. Section 6.7 of this chapter, as added in the 2026 session of the general assembly, and sections 10 and 11 of this chapter, as amended in the 2026 session of the general assembly, apply to an accident and sickness insurance policy that is issued, delivered, amended, or renewed after June 30, 2026.**

SECTION 3 ~~4~~ [\[5\]](#). IC 27-8-5.7-6.7 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 6.7. (a) An insurer may not retroactively reduce the reimbursement rate for any CPT code.**



1 (b) An insurer:

2 (1) shall provide at least sixty (60) days notice to a provider;
3 and

4 (2) must obtain the:

5 (A) approval of the department; or

6 (B) approval and signature of a provider;

7 in accordance with IC 27-1-37.1-5.5;

8 before implementing a rate reduction for any CPT code.

9 SECTION 3 ~~IC 27-8-5.7-10~~ [6]. IC 27-8-5.7-10, AS ADDED BY P.L.55-2006,
10 SECTION 1, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
11 JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 10. (a) An insurer may not, more than two (2)
12 years after the date on which an overpayment on a provider claim was
13 made to the provider by the insurer:

14 (1) request that the provider repay the overpayment; or

15 (2) adjust a subsequent claim filed by the provider as a method
16 of obtaining reimbursement of the overpayment from the
17 provider.

18 (a) An insurer may not retroactively audit a paid claim or seek
19 recoupment or a refund of a paid claim more than:

20 (1) one hundred eighty (180) days after the date on which the
21 claim was initially paid; or

22 (2) the same number of days that a provider is required to
23 submit a claim to the insurer;

24 whichever occurs first.

25 (b) An insurer may not be required to correct a payment error to
26 a provider more than two (2) years after the date on which a payment
27 on a provider claim was made to the provider by the insurer: period
28 described in subsection (a).

29 (c) This section does not apply in cases of fraud by the provider,
30 the insured, or the insurer with respect to the claim on which the
31 overpayment or underpayment was made.

32 SECTION 3 ~~IC 27-8-5.7-11~~ [7]. IC 27-8-5.7-11, AS ADDED BY P.L.55-2006,
33 SECTION 2, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE
34 JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 11. (a) An insurer may adjust a subsequent
35 claim for recoupment of an overpayment only if:

36 (1) the insurer finds that fraud was committed by the
37 provider on a previous provider claim; and

38 (2) the adjustment is made to recoup the overpayment on the
39 previous provider claim.

40 (b) Every subsequent claim that is adjusted by an insurer for
41 reimbursement on an overpayment of a previous provider claim made
42 to the provider must be accompanied by an explanation of the reason



for the adjustment, including:

(1) an identification of:

(A) the claim on which the overpayment was made; and

(B) if ascertainable, the party financially responsible for the overpaid amount; and

(2) the amount of the overpayment that is being reimbursed to the insurer through the adjusted subsequent claim.

SECTION 3 ~~3~~ ~~4~~ ~~5~~ ~~6~~ ~~7~~ ~~8~~ ~~9~~ ~~10~~ ~~11~~ ~~12~~ ~~13~~ ~~14~~ ~~15~~ ~~16~~ ~~17~~ ~~18~~ ~~19~~ ~~20~~ ~~21~~ ~~22~~ ~~23~~ ~~24~~ ~~25~~ ~~26~~ ~~27~~ ~~28~~ ~~29~~ ~~30~~ ~~31~~ ~~32~~ ~~33~~ ~~34~~ ~~35~~ ~~36~~ ~~37~~ ~~38~~ ~~39~~ ~~40~~ ~~41~~ ~~42~~ ~~43~~ ~~44~~ ~~45~~ ~~46~~ ~~47~~ ~~48~~ ~~49~~ ~~50~~ ~~51~~ ~~52~~ ~~53~~ ~~54~~ ~~55~~ ~~56~~ ~~57~~ ~~58~~ ~~59~~ ~~60~~ ~~61~~ ~~62~~ ~~63~~ ~~64~~ ~~65~~ ~~66~~ ~~67~~ ~~68~~ ~~69~~ ~~70~~ ~~71~~ ~~72~~ ~~73~~ ~~74~~ ~~75~~ ~~76~~ ~~77~~ ~~78~~ ~~79~~ ~~80~~ ~~81~~ ~~82~~ ~~83~~ ~~84~~ ~~85~~ ~~86~~ ~~87~~ ~~88~~ ~~89~~ ~~90~~ ~~91~~ ~~92~~ ~~93~~ ~~94~~ ~~95~~ ~~96~~ ~~97~~ ~~98~~ ~~99~~ ~~100~~ ~~101~~ ~~102~~ ~~103~~ ~~104~~ ~~105~~ ~~106~~ ~~107~~ ~~108~~ ~~109~~ ~~110~~ ~~111~~ ~~112~~ ~~113~~ ~~114~~ ~~115~~ ~~116~~ ~~117~~ ~~118~~ ~~119~~ ~~120~~ ~~121~~ ~~122~~ ~~123~~ ~~124~~ ~~125~~ ~~126~~ ~~127~~ ~~128~~ ~~129~~ ~~130~~ ~~131~~ ~~132~~ ~~133~~ ~~134~~ ~~135~~ ~~136~~ ~~137~~ ~~138~~ ~~139~~ ~~140~~ ~~141~~ ~~142~~ ~~143~~ ~~144~~ ~~145~~ ~~146~~ ~~147~~ ~~148~~ ~~149~~ ~~150~~ ~~151~~ ~~152~~ ~~153~~ ~~154~~ ~~155~~ ~~156~~ ~~157~~ ~~158~~ ~~159~~ ~~160~~ ~~161~~ ~~162~~ ~~163~~ ~~164~~ ~~165~~ ~~166~~ ~~167~~ ~~168~~ ~~169~~ ~~170~~ ~~171~~ ~~172~~ ~~173~~ ~~174~~ ~~175~~ ~~176~~ ~~177~~ ~~178~~ ~~179~~ ~~180~~ ~~181~~ ~~182~~ ~~183~~ ~~184~~ ~~185~~ ~~186~~ ~~187~~ ~~188~~ ~~189~~ ~~190~~ ~~191~~ ~~192~~ ~~193~~ ~~194~~ ~~195~~ ~~196~~ ~~197~~ ~~198~~ ~~199~~ ~~200~~ ~~201~~ ~~202~~ ~~203~~ ~~204~~ ~~205~~ ~~206~~ ~~207~~ ~~208~~ ~~209~~ ~~210~~ ~~211~~ ~~212~~ ~~213~~ ~~214~~ ~~215~~ ~~216~~ ~~217~~ ~~218~~ ~~219~~ ~~220~~ ~~221~~ ~~222~~ ~~223~~ ~~224~~ ~~225~~ ~~226~~ ~~227~~ ~~228~~ ~~229~~ ~~230~~ ~~231~~ ~~232~~ ~~233~~ ~~234~~ ~~235~~ ~~236~~ ~~237~~ ~~238~~ ~~239~~ ~~240~~ ~~241~~ ~~242~~ ~~243~~ ~~244~~ ~~245~~ ~~246~~ ~~247~~ ~~248~~ ~~249~~ ~~250~~ ~~251~~ ~~252~~ ~~253~~ ~~254~~ ~~255~~ ~~256~~ ~~257~~ ~~258~~ ~~259~~ ~~260~~ ~~261~~ ~~262~~ ~~263~~ ~~264~~ ~~265~~ ~~266~~ ~~267~~ ~~268~~ ~~269~~ ~~270~~ ~~271~~ ~~272~~ ~~273~~ ~~274~~ ~~275~~ ~~276~~ ~~277~~ ~~278~~ ~~279~~ ~~280~~ ~~281~~ ~~282~~ ~~283~~ ~~284~~ ~~285~~ ~~286~~ ~~287~~ ~~288~~ ~~289~~ ~~290~~ ~~291~~ ~~292~~ ~~293~~ ~~294~~ ~~295~~ ~~296~~ ~~297~~ ~~298~~ ~~299~~ ~~300~~ ~~301~~ ~~302~~ ~~303~~ ~~304~~ ~~305~~ ~~306~~ ~~307~~ ~~308~~ ~~309~~ ~~310~~ ~~311~~ ~~312~~ ~~313~~ ~~314~~ ~~315~~ ~~316~~ ~~317~~ ~~318~~ ~~319~~ ~~320~~ ~~321~~ ~~322~~ ~~323~~ ~~324~~ ~~325~~ ~~326~~ ~~327~~ ~~328~~ ~~329~~ ~~330~~ ~~331~~ ~~332~~ ~~333~~ ~~334~~ ~~335~~ ~~336~~ ~~337~~ ~~338~~ ~~339~~ ~~340~~ ~~341~~ ~~342~~ ~~343~~ ~~344~~ ~~345~~ ~~346~~ ~~347~~ ~~348~~ ~~349~~ ~~350~~ ~~351~~ ~~352~~ ~~353~~ ~~354~~ ~~355~~ ~~356~~ ~~357~~ ~~358~~ ~~359~~ ~~360~~ ~~361~~ ~~362~~ ~~363~~ ~~364~~ ~~365~~ ~~366~~ ~~367~~ ~~368~~ ~~369~~ ~~370~~ ~~371~~ ~~372~~ ~~373~~ ~~374~~ ~~375~~ ~~376~~ ~~377~~ ~~378~~ ~~379~~ ~~380~~ ~~381~~ ~~382~~ ~~383~~ ~~384~~ ~~385~~ ~~386~~ ~~387~~ ~~388~~ ~~389~~ ~~390~~ ~~391~~ ~~392~~ ~~393~~ ~~394~~ ~~395~~ ~~396~~ ~~397~~ ~~398~~ ~~399~~ ~~400~~ ~~401~~ ~~402~~ ~~403~~ ~~404~~ ~~405~~ ~~406~~ ~~407~~ ~~408~~ ~~409~~ ~~410~~ ~~411~~ ~~412~~ ~~413~~ ~~414~~ ~~415~~ ~~416~~ ~~417~~ ~~418~~ ~~419~~ ~~420~~ ~~421~~ ~~422~~ ~~423~~ ~~424~~ ~~425~~ ~~426~~ ~~427~~ ~~428~~ ~~429~~ ~~430~~ ~~431~~ ~~432~~ ~~433~~ ~~434~~ ~~435~~ ~~436~~ ~~437~~ ~~438~~ ~~439~~ ~~440~~ ~~441~~ ~~442~~ ~~443~~ ~~444~~ ~~445~~ ~~446~~ ~~447~~ ~~448~~ ~~449~~ ~~450~~ ~~451~~ ~~452~~ ~~453~~ ~~454~~ ~~455~~ ~~456~~ ~~457~~ ~~458~~ ~~459~~ ~~460~~ ~~461~~ ~~462~~ ~~463~~ ~~464~~ ~~465~~ ~~466~~ ~~467~~ ~~468~~ ~~469~~ ~~470~~ ~~471~~ ~~472~~ ~~473~~ ~~474~~ ~~475~~ ~~476~~ ~~477~~ ~~478~~ ~~479~~ ~~480~~ ~~481~~ ~~482~~ ~~483~~ ~~484~~ ~~485~~ ~~486~~ ~~487~~ ~~488~~ ~~489~~ ~~490~~ ~~491~~ ~~492~~ ~~493~~ ~~494~~ ~~495~~ ~~496~~ ~~497~~ ~~498~~ ~~499~~ ~~500~~ ~~501~~ ~~502~~ ~~503~~ ~~504~~ ~~505~~ ~~506~~ ~~507~~ ~~508~~ ~~509~~ ~~510~~ ~~511~~ ~~512~~ ~~513~~ ~~514~~ ~~515~~ ~~516~~ ~~517~~ ~~518~~ ~~519~~ ~~520~~ ~~521~~ ~~522~~ ~~523~~ ~~524~~ ~~525~~ ~~526~~ ~~527~~ ~~528~~ ~~529~~ ~~530~~ ~~531~~ ~~532~~ ~~533~~ ~~534~~ ~~535~~ ~~536~~ ~~537~~ ~~538~~ ~~539~~ ~~540~~ ~~541~~ ~~542~~ ~~543~~ ~~544~~ ~~545~~ ~~546~~ ~~547~~ ~~548~~ ~~549~~ ~~550~~ ~~551~~ ~~552~~ ~~553~~ ~~554~~ ~~555~~ ~~556~~ ~~557~~ ~~558~~ ~~559~~ ~~560~~ ~~561~~ ~~562~~ ~~563~~ ~~564~~ ~~565~~ ~~566~~ ~~567~~ ~~568~~ ~~569~~ ~~570~~ ~~571~~ ~~572~~ ~~573~~ ~~574~~ ~~575~~ ~~576~~ ~~577~~ ~~578~~ ~~579~~ ~~580~~ ~~581~~ ~~582~~ ~~583~~ ~~584~~ ~~585~~ ~~586~~ ~~587~~ ~~588~~ ~~589~~ ~~590~~ ~~591~~ ~~592~~ ~~593~~ ~~594~~ ~~595~~ ~~596~~ ~~597~~ ~~598~~ ~~599~~ ~~600~~ ~~601~~ ~~602~~ ~~603~~ ~~604~~ ~~605~~ ~~606~~ ~~607~~ ~~608~~ ~~609~~ ~~610~~ ~~611~~ ~~612~~ ~~613~~ ~~614~~ ~~615~~ ~~616~~ ~~617~~ ~~618~~ ~~619~~ ~~620~~ ~~621~~ ~~622~~ ~~623~~ ~~624~~ ~~625~~ ~~626~~ ~~627~~ ~~628~~ ~~629~~ ~~630~~ ~~631~~ ~~632~~ ~~633~~ ~~634~~ ~~635~~ ~~636~~ ~~637~~ ~~638~~ ~~639~~ ~~640~~ ~~641~~ ~~642~~ ~~643~~ ~~644~~ ~~645~~ ~~646~~ ~~647~~ ~~648~~ ~~649~~ ~~650~~ ~~651~~ ~~652~~ ~~653~~ ~~654~~ ~~655~~ ~~656~~ ~~657~~ ~~658~~ ~~659~~ ~~660~~ ~~661~~ ~~662~~ ~~663~~ ~~664~~ ~~665~~ ~~666~~ ~~667~~ ~~668~~ ~~669~~ ~~670~~ ~~671~~ ~~672~~ ~~673~~ ~~674~~ ~~675~~ ~~676~~ ~~677~~ ~~678~~ ~~679~~ ~~680~~ ~~681~~ ~~682~~ ~~683~~ ~~684~~ ~~685~~ ~~686~~ ~~687~~ ~~688~~ ~~689~~ ~~690~~ ~~691~~ ~~692~~ ~~693~~ ~~694~~ ~~695~~ ~~696~~ ~~697~~ ~~698~~ ~~699~~ ~~700~~ ~~701~~ ~~702~~ ~~703~~ ~~704~~ ~~705~~ ~~706~~ ~~707~~ ~~708~~ ~~709~~ ~~710~~ ~~711~~ ~~712~~ ~~713~~ ~~714~~ ~~715~~ ~~716~~ ~~717~~ ~~718~~ ~~719~~ ~~720~~ ~~721~~ ~~722~~ ~~723~~ ~~724~~ ~~725~~ ~~726~~ ~~727~~ ~~728~~ ~~729~~ ~~730~~ ~~731~~ ~~732~~ ~~733~~ ~~734~~ ~~735~~ ~~736~~ ~~737~~ ~~738~~ ~~739~~ ~~740~~ ~~741~~ ~~742~~ ~~743~~ ~~744~~ ~~745~~ ~~746~~ ~~747~~ ~~748~~ ~~749~~ ~~750~~ ~~751~~ ~~752~~ ~~753~~ ~~754~~ ~~755~~ ~~756~~ ~~757~~ ~~758~~ ~~759~~ ~~760~~ ~~761~~ ~~762~~ ~~763~~ ~~764~~ ~~765~~ ~~766~~ ~~767~~ ~~768~~ ~~769~~ ~~770~~ ~~771~~ ~~772~~ ~~773~~ ~~774~~ ~~775~~ ~~776~~ ~~777~~ ~~778~~ ~~779~~ ~~780~~ ~~781~~ ~~782~~ ~~783~~ ~~784~~ ~~785~~ ~~786~~ ~~787~~ ~~788~~ ~~789~~ ~~790~~ ~~791~~ ~~792~~ ~~793~~ ~~794~~ ~~795~~ ~~796~~ ~~797~~ ~~798~~ ~~799~~ ~~800~~ ~~801~~ ~~802~~ ~~803~~ ~~804~~ ~~805~~ ~~806~~ ~~807~~ ~~808~~ ~~809~~ ~~810~~ ~~811~~ ~~812~~ ~~813~~ ~~814~~ ~~815~~ ~~816~~ ~~817~~ ~~818~~ ~~819~~ ~~820~~ ~~821~~ ~~822~~ ~~823~~ ~~824~~ ~~825~~ ~~826~~ ~~827~~ ~~828~~ ~~829~~ ~~830~~ ~~831~~ ~~832~~ ~~833~~ ~~834~~ ~~835~~ ~~836~~ ~~837~~ ~~838~~ ~~839~~ ~~840~~ ~~841~~ ~~842~~ ~~843~~ ~~844~~ ~~845~~ ~~846~~ ~~847~~ ~~848~~ ~~849~~ ~~850~~ ~~851~~ ~~852~~ ~~853~~ ~~854~~ ~~855~~ ~~856~~ ~~857~~ ~~858~~ ~~859~~ ~~860~~ ~~861~~ ~~862~~ ~~863~~ ~~864~~ ~~865~~ ~~866~~ ~~867~~ ~~868~~ ~~869~~ ~~870~~ ~~871~~ ~~872~~ ~~873~~ ~~874~~ ~~875~~ ~~876~~ ~~877~~ ~~878~~ ~~879~~ ~~880~~ ~~881~~ ~~882~~ ~~883~~ ~~884~~ ~~885~~ ~~886~~ ~~887~~ ~~888~~ ~~889~~ ~~890~~ ~~891~~ ~~892~~ ~~893~~ ~~894~~ ~~895~~ ~~896~~ ~~897~~ ~~898~~ ~~899~~ ~~900~~ ~~901~~ ~~902~~ ~~903~~ ~~904~~ ~~905~~ ~~906~~ ~~907~~ ~~908~~ ~~909~~ ~~910~~ ~~911~~ ~~912~~ ~~913~~ ~~914~~ ~~915~~ ~~916~~ ~~917~~ ~~918~~ ~~919~~ ~~920~~ ~~921~~ ~~922~~ ~~923~~ ~~924~~ ~~925~~ ~~926~~ ~~927~~ ~~928~~ ~~929~~ ~~930~~ ~~931~~ ~~932~~ ~~933~~ ~~934~~ ~~935~~ ~~936~~ ~~937~~ ~~938~~ ~~939~~ ~~940~~ ~~941~~ ~~942~~ ~~943~~ ~~944~~ ~~945~~ ~~946~~ ~~947~~ ~~948~~ ~~949~~ ~~950~~ ~~951~~ ~~952~~ ~~953~~ ~~954~~ ~~955~~ ~~956~~ ~~957~~ ~~958~~ ~~959~~ ~~960~~ ~~961~~ ~~962~~ ~~963~~ ~~964~~ ~~965~~ ~~966~~ ~~967~~ ~~968~~ ~~969~~ ~~970~~ ~~971~~ ~~972~~ ~~973~~ ~~974~~ ~~975~~ ~~976~~ ~~977~~ ~~978~~ ~~979~~ ~~980~~ ~~981~~ ~~982~~ ~~983~~ ~~984~~ ~~985~~ ~~986~~ ~~987~~ ~~988~~ ~~989~~ ~~990~~ ~~991~~ ~~992~~ ~~993~~ ~~994~~ ~~995~~ ~~996~~ ~~997~~ ~~998~~ ~~999~~ ~~1000~~ ~~1001~~ ~~1002~~ ~~1003~~ ~~1004~~ ~~1005~~ ~~1006~~ ~~1007~~ ~~1008~~ ~~1009~~ ~~1010~~ ~~1011~~ ~~1012~~ ~~1013~~ ~~1014~~ ~~1015~~ ~~1016~~ ~~1017~~ ~~1018~~ ~~1019~~ ~~1020~~ ~~1021~~ ~~1022~~ ~~1023~~ ~~1024~~ ~~1025~~ ~~1026~~ ~~1027~~ ~~1028~~ ~~1029~~ ~~1030~~ ~~1031~~ ~~1032~~ ~~1033~~ ~~1034~~ ~~1035~~ ~~1036~~ ~~1037~~ ~~1038~~ ~~1039~~ ~~1040~~ ~~1041~~ ~~1042~~ ~~1043~~ ~~1044~~ ~~1045~~ ~~1046~~ ~~1047~~ ~~1048~~ ~~1049~~ ~~1050~~ ~~1051~~ ~~1052~~ ~~1053~~ ~~1054~~ ~~1055~~ ~~1056~~ ~~1057~~ ~~1058~~ ~~1059~~ ~~1060~~ ~~1061~~ ~~1062~~ ~~1063~~ ~~1064~~ ~~1065~~ ~~1066~~ ~~1067~~ ~~1068~~ ~~1069~~ ~~1070~~ ~~1071~~ ~~1072~~ ~~1073~~ ~~1074~~ ~~1075~~ ~~1076~~ ~~1077~~ ~~1078~~ ~~1079~~ ~~1080~~ ~~1081~~ ~~1082~~ ~~1083~~ ~~1084~~ ~~1085~~ ~~1086~~ ~~1087~~ ~~1088~~ ~~1089~~ ~~1090~~ ~~1091~~ ~~1092~~ ~~1093~~ ~~1094~~ ~~1095~~ ~~1096~~ ~~1097~~ ~~1098~~ ~~1099~~ ~~1100~~ ~~1101~~ ~~1102~~ ~~1103~~ ~~1104~~ ~~1105~~ ~~1106~~ ~~1107~~ ~~1108~~ ~~1109~~ ~~1110~~ ~~1111~~ ~~1112~~ ~~1113~~ ~~1114~~ ~~1115~~ ~~1116~~ ~~1117~~ ~~1118~~ ~~1119~~ ~~1120~~ ~~1121~~ ~~1122~~ ~~1123~~ ~~1124~~ ~~1125~~ ~~1126~~ ~~1127~~ ~~1128~~ ~~1129~~ ~~1130~~ ~~1131~~ ~~1132~~ ~~1133~~ ~~1134~~ ~~1135~~ ~~1136~~ ~~1137~~ ~~1138~~ ~~1139~~ ~~1140~~ ~~1141~~ ~~1142~~ ~~1143~~ ~~1144~~ ~~1145~~ ~~1146~~ ~~1147~~ ~~1148~~ ~~1149~~ ~~1150~~ ~~1151~~ ~~1152~~ ~~1153~~ ~~1154~~ ~~1155~~ ~~1156~~ ~~1157~~ ~~1158~~ ~~1159~~ ~~1160~~ ~~1161~~ ~~1162~~ ~~1163~~ ~~1164~~ ~~1165~~ ~~1166~~ ~~1167~~ ~~1168~~ ~~1169~~ ~~1170~~ ~~1171~~ ~~1172~~ ~~1173~~ ~~1174~~ ~~1175~~ ~~1176~~ ~~1177~~ ~~1178~~ ~~1179~~ ~~1180~~ ~~1181~~ ~~1182~~ ~~1183~~ ~~1184~~ ~~1185~~ ~~1186~~ ~~1187~~ ~~1188~~ ~~1189~~ ~~1190~~ ~~1191~~ ~~1192~~ ~~1193~~ ~~1194~~ ~~1195~~ ~~1196~~ ~~1197~~ ~~1198~~ ~~1199~~ ~~1200~~ ~~1201~~ ~~1202~~ ~~1203~~ ~~1204~~ ~~1205~~ ~~1206~~ ~~1207~~ ~~1208~~ ~~1209~~ ~~1210~~ ~~1211~~ ~~1212~~ ~~1213~~ ~~1214~~ ~~1215~~ ~~1216~~ ~~1217~~ ~~1218~~ ~~1219~~ ~~1220~~ ~~1221~~ ~~1222~~ ~~1223~~ ~~1224~~ ~~1225~~ ~~1226~~ ~~1227~~ ~~1228~~ ~~1229~~ ~~1230~~ ~~1231~~ ~~1232~~ ~~1233~~ ~~1234~~ ~~1235~~ ~~1236~~ ~~1237~~ ~~1238~~ ~~1239~~ ~~1240~~ ~~1241~~ ~~1242~~ ~~1243~~ ~~1244~~ ~~1245~~ ~~1246~~ ~~1247~~ ~~1248~~ ~~1249~~ ~~1250~~ ~~1251~~ ~~1252~~ ~~1253~~ ~~1254~~ ~~1255~~ ~~1256~~ ~~1257~~ ~~1258~~ ~~1259~~ ~~1260~~ ~~1261~~ ~~1262~~ ~~1263~~ ~~1264~~ ~~1265~~ ~~1266~~ ~~1267~~ ~~1268~~ ~~1269~~ ~~1270~~ ~~1271~~ ~~1272~~ ~~1273~~ ~~1274~~ ~~1275~~ ~~1276~~ ~~1277~~ ~~1278~~ ~~1279~~ ~~1280~~ ~~1281~~ ~~1282~~ ~~1283~~ ~~1284~~ ~~1285~~ ~~1286~~ ~~1287~~ ~~1288~~ ~~1289~~ ~~1290~~ ~~1291~~ ~~1292~~ ~~1293~~ ~~1294~~ ~~1295~~ ~~1296~~ ~~1297~~ ~~1298~~ ~~1299~~ ~~1300~~ ~~1301~~ ~~1302~~ ~~1303~~ ~~1304~~ ~~1305~~ ~~1306~~ ~~1307~~ ~~1308~~ ~~1309~~ ~~1310~~ ~~1311~~ ~~1312~~ ~~1313~~ ~~1314~~ ~~1315~~ ~~1316~~ ~~1317~~ ~~1318~~ ~~1319~~ ~~13~~

31 of each year that contains the following information:

(1) A description of the processes:

(A) used to develop or select the medical necessity criteria for coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse; and

(B) used to develop or select the medical necessity criteria for coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions.

(2) Identification of all nonquantitative treatment limitations that are applied to:

(A) coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse; and

(B) coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions;

within each classification of benefits.

(3) The reimbursement rates for providers of mental illness or substance abuse services relative to Medicare rates and the reimbursement rates for providers of medical or surgical services relative to Medicare rates in the respective classification of benefits.

(e) There may be no separate nonquantitative treatment limitations that apply to coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse that do not apply to coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions within any classification of benefits.

(f) An individual contract or a group contract that provides coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse shall also submit an analysis showing the insurer's compliance with this section and the act to the department not later than December 31 of each year. The analysis must do the following:

(1) Identify the factors used to determine that a nonquantitative treatment limitation will apply to a benefit, including factors that were considered but rejected.

(2) Identify and define the specific evidentiary standards used to define the factors and any other evidence relied upon in designing each nonquantitative treatment limitation.

(3) Provide the comparative analyses, including the results of the analyses, performed to determine the following:

(A) That the processes and strategies used to design each nonquantitative treatment limitation for coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse are comparable to, and applied no more stringently than, the



processes and strategies used to design each nonquantitative treatment limitation for coverage of services for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions.

(B) That the processes and strategies used to apply each nonquantitative treatment limitation for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse are comparable to, and applied no more stringently than, the processes and strategies used to apply each nonquantitative limitation for treatment of other medical or surgical conditions.

(g) This subsection applies to an individual contract or a group contract that is entered into, delivered, amended, or renewed after June 30, 2026. An individual contract or a group contract that provides coverage of services for treatment of a mental illness or substance abuse shall reimburse providers of mental illness or substance abuse services at rates that are at least as favorable relative to Medicare rates as reimbursement rates are for providers of medical or surgical services relative to Medicare rates in the respective classification of benefits.

~~(g)~~ **(h)** The department shall adopt rules to ensure compliance with this section and the applicable provisions of the act.

SECTION ~~35~~ [\[40\]](#). IC 27-13-36-5.5 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 5.5. (a) This section applies if:**

(1) a health maintenance organization's network access to health care services does not meet reasonable appointment wait time standards; and

(2) the enrollee receives care from an out of network provider.

(b) The enrollee's treating provider may collect from the enrollee only the deductible or copayment, if any, that the enrollee would be responsible to pay if the health care services had been provided by a participating provider.

(c) The enrollee may not be billed by the health maintenance organization or by the out of network provider for any difference between the out of network provider's charge and the amount paid by the health maintenance organization to the out of network provider.

SECTION ~~36~~ [\[41\]](#). IC 27-13-36.2-0.5 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 0.5. Section 4.7 of this chapter, as added in the 2026 session of the general assembly, and sections 8 and 9 of this chapter, as amended in the 2026 session of the general**



assembly, apply to an individual contract and a group contract that is entered into, delivered, amended, or renewed after June 30, 2026.

SECTION ~~37~~[42]. IC 27-13-36.2-4.7 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 4.7. (a) A health maintenance organization may not retroactively reduce the reimbursement rate for any CPT code (as defined in IC 27-1-37.5-3).

(b) A health maintenance organization:

(1) shall provide at least sixty (60) days notice to a provider;

and

(2) must obtain the:

(A) approval of the department; or

(B) approval and signature of a provider;

in accordance with IC 27-1-37.1-5.5;

before reducing the reimbursement rate for any CPT code (as defined in IC 27-1-37.5-3).

SECTION ~~38~~[43]. IC 27-13-36.2-8, AS ADDED BY P.L.55-2006, SECTION 3, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 8. (a) A health maintenance organization may not, more than two (2) years after the date on which an overpayment on a provider claim was made to the provider by the health maintenance organization:

(1) request that the provider repay the overpayment; or

(2) adjust a subsequent claim filed by the provider as a method of obtaining reimbursement of the overpayment from the provider.

(a) A health maintenance organization may not retroactively audit a paid claim or seek recoupment or a refund of a paid claim more than:

(1) one hundred eighty (180) days after the date on which the claim was initially paid; or

(2) the same number of days that a provider is required to submit a claim to the health maintenance organization;

whichever occurs first.

(b) A health maintenance organization may not be required to correct a payment error to a provider more than two (2) years after the date on which a payment on a provider claim was made to the provider by the health maintenance organization. period described in subsection (a).

(c) This section does not apply in cases of fraud by the provider, the enrollee, or the health maintenance organization with respect to the



claim on which the overpayment or underpayment was made.

SECTION ~~39~~ [44]. IC 27-13-36.2-9, AS ADDED BY P.L.55-2006, SECTION 4, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 9. **(a) A health maintenance organization may adjust a subsequent claim for recoupment of an overpayment only if:**

(1) the health maintenance organization finds that fraud was committed by the provider on a previous provider claim; and

(2) the adjustment is made to recoup the overpayment on the previous provider claim.

(b) Every subsequent claim that is adjusted by a health maintenance organization for ~~reimbursement~~ **on recoupment** of an overpayment of a previous provider claim made to the provider must be accompanied by an explanation of the reason for the adjustment, including:

(1) an identification of:

(A) the claim on which the overpayment was made; and

(B) if ascertainable, the party financially responsible for the amount overpaid; and

(2) the amount of the overpayment that is being reimbursed to the health maintenance organization through the adjusted subsequent claim.

SECTION 4 ~~40~~ [5]. IC 35-52-16-58 IS REPEALED [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]. Sec. 58. IC ~~16-41-14-17~~ defines a crime concerning communicable diseases.

SECTION 4 ~~41~~ [6]. IC 36-8-4-5, AS AMENDED BY P.L.66-2020, SECTION 1, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 5. **(a) The following definitions apply throughout this section:**

(1) "Firefighter" means a current or former firefighter.

(2) "Police officer" means a current or former police officer.

~~(a)~~ **(b)** A city shall pay for the care of a police officer or firefighter who suffers an injury while performing the person's duty or while the person is on duty or who contracts illness caused by the performance of the person's duty, including an injury or illness that results in a disability or death presumed incurred in the line of duty under IC 5-10-13. This care includes:

(1) medical and surgical care;

(2) medicines and laboratory, curative, and palliative agents and means;

(3) X-ray, diagnostic, and therapeutic service, including during the recovery period; and



(4) hospital and special nursing care if the physician or surgeon in charge considers it necessary for proper recovery.

~~(b)~~ (c) Expenditures required by subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) shall be paid from the general fund of the city.

~~(c)~~ (d) A city that has paid for the care of a police officer or firefighter under subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) has a cause of action for reimbursement of the amount paid under subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) against any third party against whom the police officer or firefighter has a cause of action for an injury sustained because of or an illness caused by the third party. The city's cause of action under this subsection is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the cause of action of the police officer or firefighter against the third party.

(e) **The medical benefits under this section are independent and distinct from any medical benefits that are available under IC 22-3. A police officer or firefighter may recover medical benefits under this section without first pursuing a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3. If a police officer or firefighter pursues a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3 and the claim is withdrawn or denied, the police officer or firefighter is not precluded from recovering medical benefits under this section.**

SECTION 4 ~~↔~~ [7]. IC 36-8-4.3-2 IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 2. (a) **The following definitions apply throughout this section:**

(1) **"Firefighter" means a current or former full-time, paid firefighter.**

(2) **"Police officer" means a current or former full-time, paid police officer.**

~~(a)~~ (b) A special service district shall pay for the care of:

(1) a ~~full-time, paid~~ police officer who:

(A) suffers an injury; or

(B) contracts an illness;

during the performance of the **police** officer's duty; or

(2) a ~~full-time, paid~~ firefighter who:

(A) suffers an injury; or

(B) contracts an illness;

during the performance of the firefighter's duty.

~~(b)~~ (c) The special service district shall pay for the following expenses incurred by a police officer or firefighter described in subsection ~~(a)~~ (b):

(1) Medical and surgical care.

(2) Medicines and laboratory, curative, and palliative agents and means.



(3) X-ray, diagnostic, and therapeutic service, including during the recovery period.

(4) Hospital and special nursing care if the physician or surgeon in charge considers it necessary for proper recovery.

~~(c)~~ (d) Expenditures required by subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) or (c) shall be paid from the general fund of the special service district.

~~(d)~~ (e) A special service district that has paid for the care of a police officer or firefighter under subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) or (c) has a cause of action for reimbursement of the amount paid under subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) or (c) against any third party against whom the police officer or firefighter has a cause of action for an injury sustained because of, or an illness caused by, the third party. The special service district's cause of action under this subsection is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the cause of action of the police officer or firefighter against the third party.

(f) The medical benefits under this section are independent and distinct from any medical benefits that are available under IC 22-3. A police officer or firefighter may recover medical benefits under this section without first pursuing a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3. If the police officer or firefighter pursues a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3 and the claim is withdrawn or denied, the police officer or firefighter is not precluded from recovering medical benefits under this section.

SECTION 4 ~~↔~~ [8]. IC 36-8-4.5-10 IS ADDED TO THE INDIANA CODE AS A NEW SECTION TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: **Sec. 10. (a) A town shall pay for the care of a current or retired full-time paid member of a town fire department who suffers an injury while performing the person's duty or while the person is on duty or who contracts illness caused by the performance of the person's duty, including an injury or illness that results in a disability or death presumed incurred in the line of duty under IC 5-10-13. This care includes:**

(1) medical and surgical care;

(2) medicines and laboratory, curative, and palliative agents and means;

(3) X-ray, diagnostic, and therapeutic service, including during the recovery period; and

(4) hospital and special nursing care if the physician or surgeon in charge considers it necessary for proper recovery.

(b) Expenditures required by subsection (a) shall be paid from the general fund of the town.

(c) A town that has paid for the care of a member of a town



1 fire department under subsection (a) has a cause of action for
 2 reimbursement of the amount paid under subsection (a) against
 3 any third party against whom the member of the town fire
 4 department has a cause of action for an injury sustained because
 5 of or an illness caused by the third party. The town's cause of
 6 action under this subsection is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the
 7 cause of action of the member of the town fire department against
 8 the third party.

9 (d) The medical benefits under this section are independent
 10 and distinct from any medical benefits that are available under
 11 IC 22-3. A current or retired full-time paid member of a town fire
 12 department may recover benefits under this section without first
 13 pursuing a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3. If a current
 14 or retired full-time paid member of a town fire department
 15 pursues a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3 and the claim
 16 is withdrawn or denied, the current or retired full-time paid
 17 member of the town fire department is not precluded from
 18 recovering medical benefits under this section.

19 SECTION 4~~4~~⁹. IC 36-8-9-8 IS AMENDED TO READ AS
 20 FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 8. (a) As used in this
 21 section, "police officer" means a current or former full-time, paid
 22 police officer.

23 ~~(a)~~ (b) A town shall pay for the care of a full-time, paid police
 24 officer who:

- 25 (1) suffers an injury; or
- 26 (2) contracts an illness;

27 during the performance of the police officer's duty.

28 ~~(b)~~ (c) The town shall pay for the following expenses incurred by
 29 a police officer described in subsection ~~(a)~~ (b):

- 30 (1) Medical and surgical care.
- 31 (2) Medicines and laboratory, curative, and palliative agents and
- 32 means.
- 33 (3) X-ray, diagnostic, and therapeutic service, including during
- 34 the recovery period.
- 35 (4) Hospital and special nursing care if the physician or surgeon
- 36 in charge considers it necessary for proper recovery.

37 ~~(c)~~ (d) Expenditures required by subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) or (c) shall be
 38 paid from the general fund of the town.

39 ~~(d)~~ (e) A town that has paid for the care of a police officer under
 40 subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) or (c) has a cause of action for reimbursement of the
 41 amount paid under subsection ~~(a)~~ (b) or (c) against any third party
 42 against whom the police officer has a cause of action for an injury



sustained because of, or an illness caused by, the third party. The town's cause of action under this subsection is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the cause of action of the police officer against the third party.

(f) The medical benefits under this section are independent and distinct from any medical benefits that are available under IC 22-3. A police officer may recover medical benefits under this section without first pursuing a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3. If the police officer pursues a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3 and the claim is withdrawn or denied, the police officer is not precluded from recovering medical benefits under this section.

SECTION ~~45~~ 50. IC 36-8-11-27 IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 27. **(a) As used in this section, "firefighter" means a current or former full-time, paid firefighter.**

~~(a)~~ **(b)** A fire protection district shall pay for the care of a full-time, paid firefighter who: ~~suffers:~~

(1) ~~suffers~~ an injury; or

(2) contracts an illness;

during the performance of the firefighter's duties.

~~(b)~~ **(c)** The fire protection district shall pay for the following expenses incurred by a firefighter described in subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b)**:

(1) Medical and surgical care.

(2) Medicines and laboratory, curative, and palliative agents and means.

(3) X-ray, diagnostic, and therapeutic service, including service provided during the recovery period.

(4) Hospital and special nursing care if the physician or surgeon in charge considers it necessary for proper recovery.

~~(c)~~ **(d)** Expenditures required by subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b)** or **(c)** shall be paid from the fund used by the fire protection district for payment of the costs attributable to providing fire protection services in the fire protection district.

~~(d)~~ **(e)** A fire protection district that has paid for the care of a firefighter under subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b)** or **(c)** has a cause of action for reimbursement of the amount paid under subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b)** or **(c)** against any third party against whom the firefighter has a cause of action for:

(1) an injury sustained because of; or

(2) an illness caused by;

the third party. The fire protection district's cause of action under this subsection is in addition to, and not instead of, the cause of action of



the firefighter against the third party.

(f) The medical benefits under this section are independent and distinct from any medical benefits that are available under IC 22-3. A firefighter may recover medical benefits under this section without first pursuing a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3. If the firefighter pursues a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3 and the claim is withdrawn or denied, the firefighter is not precluded from recovering medical benefits under this section.

SECTION ~~46~~ 51. IC 36-8-13-9, AS AMENDED BY P.L.236-2023, SECTION 207, IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 9. **(a) As used in this section, "firefighter" means a current or former full-time, paid firefighter.**

~~(a)~~ **(b)** A township shall pay for the care of a ~~full-time, paid~~ firefighter who: ~~suffers~~:

- (1) ~~suffers~~ an injury; or
- (2) contracts an illness;

during the performance of the firefighter's duty.

~~(b)~~ **(c)** The township shall pay for the following expenses incurred by a firefighter described in subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b)**:

- (1) Medical and surgical care.
- (2) Medicines and laboratory, curative, and palliative agents and means.
- (3) X-ray, diagnostic, and therapeutic service, including during the recovery period.
- (4) Hospital and special nursing care if the physician or surgeon in charge considers it necessary for proper recovery.

~~(c)~~ **(d)** Expenditures required by subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b) or (c)** shall be paid from the township firefighting and emergency services fund established by section 4(a)(1) of this chapter or the township firefighting fund established ~~in~~ **by** section 4(a)(2)(A) of this chapter, as applicable.

~~(d)~~ **(e)** A township that has paid for the care of a firefighter under subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b) or (c)** has a cause of action for reimbursement of the amount paid under subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b) or (c)** against any third party against whom the firefighter has a cause of action for an injury sustained because of, or an illness caused by, the third party. The township's cause of action under this subsection is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the cause of action of the firefighter against the third party.

(f) The medical benefits under this section are independent and distinct from any medical benefits that are available under IC 22-3.



A firefighter may recover medical benefits under this section without first pursuing a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3. If the firefighter pursues a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3 and the claim is withdrawn or denied, the firefighter is not precluded from recovering medical benefits under this section.

SECTION ~~<47>~~ [52]. IC 36-8-19-14 IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS [EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2026]: Sec. 14. **(a) As used in this section, "firefighter" means a current or former full-time, paid firefighter.**

~~(a)~~ **(b)** A provider unit shall pay for the care of a ~~full-time, paid~~ firefighter who:

- (1) suffers an injury; or
- (2) contracts an illness;

during the performance of the firefighter's duty.

~~(b)~~ **(c)** The provider unit shall pay for the following expenses incurred by a firefighter described in subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b)**:

- (1) Medical and surgical care.
- (2) Medicines and laboratory, curative, and palliative agents and means.
- (3) X-ray, diagnostic, and therapeutic service, including during the recovery period.
- (4) Hospital and special nursing care if the physician or surgeon in charge considers it necessary for proper recovery.

~~(c)~~ **(d)** Expenditures required by subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b) or (c)** shall be paid from the fund used by the provider unit for payment of the costs attributable to providing fire protection services in the provider unit.

~~(d)~~ **(e)** A provider unit that has paid for the care of a firefighter under subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b) or (c)** has a cause of action for reimbursement of the amount paid under subsection ~~(a)~~ **(b) or (c)** against any third party against whom the firefighter has a cause of action for an injury sustained because of, or an illness caused by, the third party. The provider unit's cause of action under this subsection is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the cause of action of the firefighter against the third party.

(f) The medical benefits under this section are independent and distinct from any medical benefits that are available under IC 22-3. A firefighter may recover medical benefits under this section without first pursuing a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3. If the firefighter pursues a claim for medical benefits under IC 22-3 and the claim is withdrawn or denied, the firefighter is not precluded from recovering medical benefits under this section.

SECTION ~~<48>~~ [53]. An emergency is declared for this act. [



1 1

M
a
r
k
u
p

2026

IN 180—LS 6885/DI 147



DOCUMENT HAS NOT BEEN CHECKED FOR ACCURACY